


















STAFF REPORT:  June 11, 2024 

 

PREPARED FOR:  Kentwood Zoning Board of Appeals 

 

PREPARED BY:  Joe Pung 

 

CASE NO.:   V-24-07 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

 

GENERAL INFORMATION 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

 

APPLICANT:   Aida and Adnan Dizdarevic 

1213 Forest Hollow Court, SE 

Kentwood, MI 49546 

 

STATUS OF 

APPLICANT:   Property Owner 

 

REQUESTED ACTION: The applicant wishes to replace an existing privacy fence with a new 

6-foot high privacy fence in the same location.  The property is a 

corner lot, and the fence would be located on the street side yard 

property line and would also encroach into the clear vision area at 

Hall Street and Forest Hill Avenue.  Section 3.19.A.2 of the Zoning 

Ordinance prohibits fencing within a clear vision area and Section 

3.19.B.2 limits the height of a privacy fence within 17 feet of a street 

side yard property line to 3 feet.  The requested variances are to 

permit a fence within the clear vision area and for an increase in 

fence height of 3 feet over what is allowed by ordinance. 

 

EXISTING ZONING OF 

SUBJECT PARCEL:  R1-C Single Family Residential 

 

GENERAL LOCATION: 1213 Forest Hollow Court, SE 

 

PARCEL SIZE:  12,780 square feet (.29 acres) 

 

EXISTING LAND USE 

ON THE PARCEL:  Single Family Residence 

 

ADJACENT AREA 

LAND USES:   N: Hall Street ROW 

    S: Single Family Residence 

    E: Single Family Residence 

    W: Forest Hill Avenue ROW 

 

ZONING ON ADJOINING 

PARCELS:   N: Residential (Grand Rapids Township) 

    S: R1-C Single Family Residential 

    E: R1-C Single Family Residential 



Staff Report 

Case V-24-07 

Page 2 

    W: R1-C Single Family Residential 

 

 

Staff Comments: 

 

1. The applicant wishes to replace an existing privacy fence with a new 6-foot high privacy 

fence in the same location.  The property is a corner lot, and the fence would be located on 

the street side yard property line and would also encroach into the clear vision area at Hall 

Street and Forest Hill Avenue.  Section 3.19.A.2 of the Zoning Ordinance prohibits fencing 

within a clear vision area and Section 3.19.B.2 limits the height of a privacy fence within 

17 feet of a street side yard property line to 3 feet.  The requested variances are to permit a 

fence within the clear vision area and for an increase in fence height of 3 feet over what is 

allowed by ordinance. 

 

2. The objectives of height limitations for fences include, but are not limited to, maintaining 

an open appearance along public streets and providing for clear visibility of oncoming 

vehicles, bicyclists, and pedestrians. 

 

3. The Forest Hollow site condominium development was approved by the city in 2000 (Case 

15-2000).  The existing home was constructed in 2002. 

 

4. Exhibit 2 identifies the clear vision corner along with where a 6-foot high privacy fence 

could be located in compliance with current ordinance requirements. 

 

5. Based on digital orthophotography from the Eagleview Pictometry, the existing fence has 

been in the current location since at least 2006 (see Exhibit 3).  The fencing  placed along 

the Forest Hill Avenue and Hall Street frontages was installed by the original developer of 

the site condominium project (fence permits were not required at the time the fence was 

originally installed). 

 

6. When the fence for the site condominium development were constructed, Forest Hill 

Avenue only had a 2-lane cross-section in this area (see Exhibit 4).  In 2011 the city 

initiated a project which created a 3-lane cross-section for Forest Hill Avenue in this area 

and also installed a nonmotorized trail on the east side of Forest Hill Avenue and south 

side of Hall Street (see Exhibit 5). 

 

7. Since the ordinance was amended in 1993, the Board has heard nineteen (19) requests for 

variances to the maximum fence height in a street side yard.  The requests were: 

 

Case # Address Action 

V-23-22 5994 Wind Brook Avenue Granted (6 ft. fence 5’ from lot line) 

V-20-06 5125 Greenacres Drive Denied ( (6 ft. fence on the property line) 

V-17-12 2279 Forest Hill Avenue Granted (6 ft. solid fence, on lot line outside of 

clear vision area) 

V-17-03 1478 Maple Hollow Street Granted (6 ft. solid fence 4’ from lot line) 

V-14-08 5819 Kiverton Ridge Drive Denied (6 ft. solid fence 2’ from lot line) 

V-12-07 1527 Marwood Drive Denied (6 ft. solid fence on the lot line) 

V-10-13 861 Edsel Street Granted (6 ft. high solid fence 7’ from lot line) 



Staff Report 

Case V-24-07 

Page 3 

V-10-12 4440 Burton Forest Court Granted (6 ft. solid fence 10’ from lot line) 

V-10-07 886 Edsel Street Granted (6 ft. solid fence at lot line) 

V-08-18 2871 Daventry Court Granted (6 ft. solid fence 5.5’ from lot line) 

V-06-06 732 – 52nd Street Granted (6ft. open fence 10’ from lot line) 

V-05-19 2866 Paddington Drive Granted (6 ft. solid fence 5’ from lot line) 

V-05-14 2860 Daventry Court Granted (6 ft. solid fence 5.5’ from lot line) 

V-05-12 2865 Bransford Drive Granted (6 ft. solid fence 9’ from lot line) 

V-03-21 1527 Marwood Drive Granted (6 ft. solid fence 9’ from lot line) 

V-02-16 205 Garland Court Granted (6 ft. solid fence at lot line) 

V-97-23 1025 – 48th Street Granted (6 ft. solid fence 3’ from lot line) 

V-96-23 4786 Bonnie Avenue Granted (6 ft. open fence at lot line) 

V-96-10 4580 Summer Creek Lane Granted (6 ft. solid fence 3’ from lot line) 

 

Whether a variance was approved or denied depended on its ability to meet the non-

variance standards of the City of Kentwood Zoning Ordinance. 

 

8. Staff could find no record of any other variance request related to the placement of a 

fence within a clear vision corner. 

 

9. A non-use variance may be allowed by the Zoning Board of Appeals only in cases where 

there is evidence of practical difficulty in the official record of the hearing and that ALL 

of the following conditions are met: 

 

In light of advice received by the City Attorney’s office based on prevailing law, 

interpretive guidance to each variance standard is provided in parenthesis. 

 

1) That there are exceptional or extraordinary circumstances or conditions applying to 

the property that do not apply generally to other properties in the same zoning 

district.  Exceptional or extraordinary circumstances or conditions include by way 

of example: 

 

a) Exceptional narrowness, shallowness or shape of the property on the effective 

date of this ordinance; or 

b) Exceptional topographic or environmental conditions or other extraordinary 

situation on the land, building or structure. 

 

(provide that this standard may be met, notwithstanding the Zoning Ordinance 

language, when a literal application of the Zoning Ordinance would result in 

practical difficulties to the applicant.  Practical difficulties may be found when 

either: 1) a denial of the variance deprives an owner of the use of the property, 2) 

literal application of the Zoning Ordinance would be unnecessarily burdensome, or 

3) granting the variance would do substantial justice to the applicant.  Practical 

difficulties need not be inherent to the land) 

 

The property is a corner lot which is not an exceptional circumstance or 

condition in a residential district.  The fence has been in the current location 

for at least eighteen (18) years (see Exhibit 3) and was installed prior to the 

widening of Forest Hill Avenue and the construction of the nonmotorized trail. 



Staff Report 

Case V-24-07 

Page 4 

 

2) That the condition or situation on which the requested variance is based does not 

occur often enough to make more practical adoption of a new zoning provision. 

 

Residential corner lots are not uncommon.  There has been a fence in the 

current location for at least eighteen (18) years and it was installed prior to the 

widening of Forest Hill Avenue and the installation of the non-motorized trail 

which all taken together is not a common occurrence. 

 

3) The literal application of the provisions of the Zoning Ordinance would deprive the 

applicant of property rights commonly enjoyed by other properties in the same zone 

district. 

 

(provided that this standard may be met, notwithstanding the Zoning Ordinance, 

when practical difficulties are established pursuant to standard number 1) 

 

Without a variance the applicant could not place a new fence in the same 

location as the existing fence (see Exhibit 2 for allowable fence location). 

 

4) The variance will not be detrimental to adjacent property and the surrounding 

neighborhood. 

 

It is not anticipated that the variance would be detrimental to the adjacent 

property or the surrounding area.  There has been a fence in the same location 

for at least eighteen (18) years.  The staff is not aware of any issues or 

complaints about the existing fence.  The existing fence does not appear to have 

been a significant detriment to clear vision at the intersection of Forest Hill 

Avenue and Hall Street. 

 

5) Taken as a whole, the variance will not impair the intent and purpose of the Zoning 

Ordinance. 

 

Based on the existing circumstances and anticipated lack of detrimental 

impact on clear vision, or the surrounding area, it is not anticipated that 

granting the variance would impair the intent and purpose of the Zoning 

Ordinance. 

 

6) The exceptional conditions or circumstances do not result from the actions of the 

applicant.  Thus, by way of example, the exceptional circumstances result from uses 

or development on an adjacent property or the exceptional shape of the property is 

the result of an unrelated predecessor’s split of the parcel. 

 

(provided that this standard may be met, notwithstanding the Zoning Ordinance, 

when the practical difficulty does not arise from the actions of the applicant.  The 

actions of the applicant do not involve purchasing the property with knowledge of 

the Zoning Ordinance restrictions) 

 

Exceptional conditions or circumstances were not the result of any action of 

the applicant.  The applicant did not install the existing fence. 



Staff Report 

Case V-24-07 

Page 5 

 

10. In authorizing a variance, the Board may, in addition to the specific conditions of approval 

called for in the Zoning Ordinance, attach other conditions regarding the location, 

character, landscaping or treatment reasonably necessary to the furtherance of the intent 

and spirit of the Ordinance and the protection of the public interest or as otherwise 

permitted by law. 

 

If approved the variance should be conditioned on the new fence being located in the 

same location as the existing fence. 

 

11. A majority vote by at least four members of the Zoning Board is necessary to approve the 

requested variance. 

 

 

 

Exhibit 1:  Location of Variance Request (2023 Aerial Photo) 

 

 
  



Staff Report 

Case V-24-07 

Page 6 

 

Exhibit 2:  Location of Clear Vision Corner and Allowable Fence Location 

 

  



Staff Report 

Case V-24-07 

Page 7 

 

Exhibit 3:  November 2006 Pictometry Photo (view from the north) 

 

 
 

Exhibit 4:  2011 Pictometry View of Forest Hill Avenue & Hall Street Intersection 

 

  



Staff Report 

Case V-24-07 

Page 8 

 

Exhibit 5:  2013 Pictometry View of Forest Hill Avenue & Hall Street Intersection 

 

 
 

  



Staff Report 

Case V-24-07 

Page 9 

 

Exhibit 6:  April 2023 Pictometry Photo (view from the east) 

 

 
 

Exhibit 7:  May 2023 Pictometry Photo (view from the west) 

 

 
  



Staff Report 

Case V-24-07 

Page 10 

 

Exhibit 8:  May 2023 Pictometry Photo (view from the south) 

 

 
 

Exhibit 9:  May 2023 Pictometry Photo (view from the north) 

 

 



Staff Report 

Case V-24-07 

Page 11 

 

Exhibit 10:  June 2021 Google Street View Image of the Intersection from the South 

 

 
 

Exhibit 11:  June 2021 Google Street View Image of the Intersection from the North 

 

 
 



















STAFF REPORT:  June 10, 2024 

 

PREPARED FOR:  Kentwood Zoning Board of Appeals 

 

PREPARED BY:  Joe Pung 

 

CASE NO.:   V-24-08 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

 

GENERAL INFORMATION 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

 

APPLICANT:   Merit Hill Capital 

    41 Flatbush Avenue, Fifth Floor 

Brooklyn, NY 11217 

 

STATUS OF 

APPLICANT:   Property Owner 

 

REQUESTED ACTION: The applicant wishes to expand the on-site outdoor storage for 

recreational vehicles. The new recreational vehicle storage area 

would be located between two existing buildings. Section 15.04.I.2 

of the Kentwood Zoning Ordinance requires that the recreational 

vehicle storage occur in the rear yard. The requested variance is to 

permit recreational vehicles to be stored in a location (between two 

buildings) that is not the rear yard. 

 

EXISTING ZONING OF 

SUBJECT PARCEL:  I1 Light Industrial 

 

GENERAL LOCATION: 4115 – 36th  Street 

 

PARCEL SIZE:  6.62 acres 

 

EXISTING LAND USE 

ON THE PARCEL:  Self-storage Facility 

 

ADJACENT AREA 

LAND USES:   N - Consumers Energy Transmission Lines 

    S - 36th Street ROW 

W - Fuel Depot 

E - Single Family Residence and Vacant Land 

 

ZONING ON ADJOINING 

PARCELS:   N - R1-C Single Family Residential 

    S - I1 Light Industrial 

    E - R1-C Single Family Residential 

    W - I1 Light Industrial   



Staff Report 

V-24-08 

Page 2 

 

Staff Comments: 

 

1. The applicant wishes to expand the on-site outdoor storage for recreational vehicles. The 

new recreational vehicle storage area would be located between two existing buildings. 

Section 15.04.I.2 of the Kentwood Zoning Ordinance requires that the recreational vehicle 

storage occur in the rear yard. The requested variance is to permit recreational vehicles to 

be stored in a location (between two buildings) that is not the rear yard. 

 

2. In 2014, the city amended the Zoning Ordinance to make provision for the outdoor storage 

of recreational vehicles as a special land use in industrial district.  Such storage is only 

allowed as an accessory use to a mini storage facility and is limited to the rear yard of the 

property and cannot exceed 25% of the area of the lot.  Prior to the 2014 amendment, there 

was no provision for the outdoor storage of recreational vehicles in industrial districts. 

 

3. Construction of the self-storage facility began in 2003.  Variances were granted in 2002 

(Case V-02-13) to permit a reduction in both the width and amount of vegetation for the 

landscape buffer along the north property line and to permit a reduction in the building 

setback from the north property line.  In 2015 (Case 1-15) the Planning Commission 

granted conditional approval of the special land use and site plan for the outdoor storage 

of recreational vehicles on the property.  In 2022 a variance was granted (Case 22-05; see 

Zoning Board Minutes Exhibits 9 through 11) to permit the outdoor storage of recreational 

vehicles in the location proposed; the area was never paved as required and the variance 

approval has since expired.  The applicant has reapplied for the variance to store 

recreational vehicles in other than the rear yard of the site. 

 

4. In June of 2021, the applicant met with the Land Use and Zoning (LUZ) Subcommittee to 

discuss their proposal for additional recreational vehicle storage between two (2) existing 

buildings and for amending the Zoning Ordinance with respect to where recreational 

vehicles could be stored on the property.  The LUZ Committee was not in support of 

amending the ordinance to allow for recreational vehicle storage in other than the rear yard 

for all self-storage facilities; based on the circumstances for this particular site, they were 

supportive of the owner making application to the Zoning Board of Appeals for a variance 

to permit recreational vehicle storage between the two (2) existing buildings as proposed. 

 

5. The location of the additional recreational vehicle storage sits approximately ten (10) to 

twelve (12) feet higher than 36th Street (see Exhibits 5 through 8).  Although the area does 

sit higher than 36th Street, any vehicles stored in that location could still be seen from 36th 

Street under current conditions (see Exhibits 6 through 8).  In order to address the issue of 

screening the applicant has indicated that additional landscaping should be added; 

including, removing five (5) feet of pavement in order to install a new greenbelt along the 

south side of the site.  Plantings within the greenbelt should be a species that would provide 

year round screening. 

 

6. The Zoning Ordinance restricts recreational vehicle storage to no more than twenty-five 

(25) percent of the site.  It appears that with the additional storage this requirement would 

not be exceeded.  If approved, the recreational vehicle storage would not be able to exceed 

twenty-five (25) percent of the site. 



Staff Report 

V-24-08 

Page 3 

 

7. Since the ordinance was amended in 2014, this is the only site to request a variance to 

locate recreational vehicle storage in other than the rear yard of a self-storage facility. 

 

8. A non-use variance may be allowed by the Zoning Board of Appeals only in cases where 

the applicant demonstrates through competent material and substantial evidence on the 

record that ALL of the following exist: 

 

1) That there are exceptional or extraordinary circumstances or conditions applying to the 

property that do not apply generally to other properties in the same zoning district.  

Exceptional or extraordinary circumstances or conditions include by way of example: 

 

a) Exceptional narrowness, shallowness or shape of the property on the effective 

date of this ordinance; or 

b) Exceptional topographic or environmental conditions or other extraordinary 

situation on the land, building or structure. 

 

(provided that this standard may be met, notwithstanding the Zoning Ordinance 

language, when a literal application of the Zoning Ordinance would result in practical 

difficulties to the applicant.  Practical difficulties may be found when either: 1) a denial 

of the variance deprives an owner of the use of the property, 2) literal application of 

the Zoning Ordinance would be unnecessarily burdensome, or 3) granting the variance 

would do substantial justice to the applicant.  Practical difficulties need not be inherent 

to the land) 

 

The area where the additional recreational vehicle storage would be located sits 

approximately ten (10) to twelve (12) feet above 36th Street, this is fairly unique when 

compared to other self-storage facilities in Kentwood.  The proposed storage area is 

located between two (2) exiting buildings which would screen the vehicles from the 

adjacent properties to the east and west. 

 

2) That the condition or situation on which the requested variance is based does not occur 

often enough to make more practical adoption of a new zoning provision. 

 

Other self-storage facilities in Kentwood do not have such a grade change that provides 

the same level of screening as this site.. 

 

3) The literal application of the provisions of the Zoning Ordinance would deprive the 

applicant of property rights commonly enjoyed by other properties in the same zone 

district. 

 

(provided that this standard may be met, notwithstanding the Zoning Ordinance, when 

practical difficulties are established pursuant to standard number 1) 

 

Without the variance the applicant could still store recreational vehicles on the 

property, but they would be restricted to the rear yard. 

  



Staff Report 

V-24-08 

Page 4 

 

4) The variance will not be detrimental to adjacent property and the surrounding 

neighborhood. 

 

It is not anticipated that the variance would be detrimental to adjacent property owners 

or the surrounding neighborhood.  The storage area would be screened by existing 

buildings, landscaping, and the change in elevation from the street. 

 

5) Taken as a whole, the variance will not impair the intent and purpose of the Zoning 

Ordinance. 

 

Based on the exceptional circumstances of the property, building layout, and the 

applicant’s indication that additional landscaping will be added to the site, the 

variance may not impair the intent and purpose of the Zoning Ordinance. 

 

6) The exceptional conditions or circumstances do not result from the actions of the 

applicant.  Thus, by way of example, the exceptional circumstances result from uses or 

development on an adjacent property or the exceptional shape of the property is the 

result of an unrelated predecessor’s split of the parcel. 

 

The exceptional conditions applying to the property and building were not the result of 

the actions of the applicant.  The applicant is not the original developer of the site. 

 

9. In authorizing a variance, the Board may, in addition to the specific conditions of approval 

called for in the Zoning Ordinance, attach other conditions regarding the location, 

character, landscaping or treatment reasonably necessary to the furtherance of the intent 

and spirit of the Ordinance and the protection of the public interest or as otherwise 

permitted by law. 

 

If the variance is approved it should be conditioned on the installation of landscaped 

screening as depicted in the site plan submitted with the variance application. 

 

10. A majority vote by at least four members of the Zoning Board is necessary to approve the 

requested variance. 

 

  



Staff Report 

V-24-08 

Page 5 

 

Exhibit 1:  Location of Variance Request  

 

 
  



Staff Report 

V-24-08 

Page 6 

 

Exhibit 2:  May 2023 Pictometry Photo (View from the East) 

 

 
 

Exhibit 3:  April 2023 Pictometry Photo (View from the West) 

 

 



Staff Report 

V-24-08 

Page 7 

 

Exhibit 4:  April 2023 Pictometry Photo (View from the South) 

 

 
 

  



Staff Report 

V-24-08 

Page 8 

 

Exhibit 5:  Elevation Contours 

 

 
 

Exhibit 6:  View South Side of 36th Street 

 

 
 



Staff Report 

V-24-08 

Page 9 

 

Exhibit 7:  View from South Side of 36th Street 

 

 
 

Exhibit 8:  View from South Side of 36th Street 

 

 



Staff Report 

V-24-08 

Page 10 

 

Exhibit 9: Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes (Page 1 of 3) 

 

 
  



Staff Report 

V-24-08 

Page 11 

 

Exhibit 10: Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes (Page 2 of 3) 

 

 
  



Staff Report 

V-24-08 

Page 12 

 

Exhibit 11: Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes (Page 3 of 3) 

 

 



pungj
Typewritten Text

pungj
Typewritten Text
V-24-08

pungj
Typewritten Text

pungj
Typewritten Text
June 17, 2024

pungj
Typewritten Text





 


	Agenda
	Minutes for May 20th
	V-24-07  1213 Forest Hollow Court (fence height & location)
	V-24-07 Application
	V-24-08 Merit Hill Capital (location of RV Storage)
	V-24-08 Application
	V-24-08 Site Plan



